 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1
Justices of the Provincial Court
Brief History of the Court

The Provincial Court evolved from the Governor’s Council.  During the first proprietary period (1634-1689), the governor acted as chief justice and members of the council as associate justices.  Donnell Owings suggests Cecilius Calvert did not seek to define offices under his leadership, but rather allowed circumstances dictated by the natural evolution of the colony to determine the complexity of government.
  As the needs of the population grew, the degree of specialization increased within each office, culminating in the form established by the Constitution of 1776.


In the first years of the colony, the court presided over a wide variety of cases, but its jurisdiction became more clarified as the colony grew and the judicial system matured, evolving progressively more formalized and standardized judicial procedures.  The Provincial Court heard chancery, testamentary, and guardianship cases until the Chancery and Prerogative Courts were established and the County Courts assumed jurisdiction in guardianship matters.  The court held concurrent jurisdiction with the various county courts in most matters until 1676 when the General Assembly raised the minimum requirements to bring suit, and officially designated the court an appellate court.
  From the beginning, the court had original jurisdiction in criminal cases involving loss of life or member, land cases, and civil suits involving a set monetary amount, which varied over the years.  It also remained the first appellate court from lower courts.


The court met at the governor’s discretion until June 12, 1666, when Charles Calvert declared that the court would meet on the same day, five times per year.  The court usually met in the capital, St. Mary’s City, but also had peripatetic intervals according to the governor’s discretion.  Under Governor Thomas Greene in 1648, court began at St. Inegoes in St. Mary’s County on June 10, and then moved to Kent County at the homes of Henry Morgan (June 22), Edward Commins (June 27), and Captain Robert Vaughan (June 30).
  Governor William Stone presided over a session at his residence in St. Michaels on February 20, 1649, then five days later court resumed at St. Mary’s City.
  From December 1654 through December 1657, court presided in Patuxent in the short-lived Patuxent County (later renamed Calvert County after 1658).
  In 1658, Governor Josias Fendall continued moving court at his discretion, holding court at his home in Charles County in April of 1658, then taking the court on circuit to Kent and Calvert Counties before returning to St. Clement’s in St. Mary’s County in December 1658.
  The court remained peripatetic through the mid 1660s, and was occasionally held at George Reade’s house in Calvert County, Crosse House in St. Inegoes, Captain William Stone’s House in St. Mary’s County, John Bateman’s House, Resurrection Manor in Calvert County, Robert Kingsberry’s house in Patuxent, and at Spetutia in Baltimore County.  Court was also held in undetermined locations in Anne Arundel County and Charles County.
 With St. Mary’s City remotely located near the southernmost point of the western shore, the court’s periods of movement may reflect an effort on the part of the crown to make justice more accessible to the dispersed population of early Maryland.  After the close of session in December 1694, the court moved with the capital to Annapolis, which afforded better access for the citizenry.  The first session of 1694/95, begun on February 26, marks the first time court was held in Anne Arundel Towne, later renamed Annapolis.  The Provincial Court held every session in Annapolis after this date until it was reorganized in 1776 as the General Court [divided into the General Court for the Eastern and Western Shores in 1775. The legislature set meeting schedule of the Provincial Court to two to three sessions per year which it kept until it was divided into the General Court for the Eastern and Western Shores in 1775.][Check citation]. 

In addition to their duties presiding over the Provincial Court, justices also presided over Courts of Assize, sometimes in conjunction with county court justices.  Usually, two Provincial Court Justices presided over the Courts of Assize.  Assizes helped alleviate the busy caseload of Provincial Court sessions.  Held between sessions of the Provincial Court and usually scheduled to last about month, courts of assizes heard similar cases as the Provincial court, but met in the local jurisdictions where the cases originated.  Assizes initially began at the discretion of the administration in power in the last decade of the 17th century, though by 1723 the General Assembly formally established regular assizes with fixed circuits and times of meeting.
  Chapter 23 of the Acts of 1723, later re-affirmed in debate during General Assembly in 1727 charged the Courts of Assize to “hear and try all Matters of Fact in all Actions, real, personal and mixt, and all Actions popular, for the Breach of any Law, that is now depending, or that shall be commenc'd in the Provincial Court.”
  Probably representative of other local newspaper owners, Jonas Green published notice of assize sessions in the Maryland Gazette.

In the first Proprietary period, membership varied from five to thirteen on the bench, but always consisted of the governor and his council.  Justices usually held several other offices in part to compensate for the poor salary received as a provincial justice.  Justices received only a per diem for travel and no salary.
  Lack of qualified men resulted in only a few men held many of the colony’s public offices.  The year 1654 illustrates this well when all of the justices were Provincial Parliamentary Commissioners [Governor’s Council] as well as members of the Commonwealth Assembly.
  One, Sampson Waring, was also sheriff of St. Mary’s County.  William Durand was Secretary of the colony and served jointly with William Fuller, Richard Preston, Edward Lloyd, and John Hatch as chief executive.
  Council members most often comprised the bench though the governor was free to name anyone he saw fit.  In 1694, for the first time the bench consisted entirely of men not on the council, but this was unusual.
  


As the colony’s population grew, settlement expanded, and the number of counties multiplied causing regional tension over equitable judicial representation.  The first experiment with equal county representation occurred in the 1690s, and quickly reached its zenith in 1696 when at least one justice from each of the eleven counties served on the bench, resulting in a total of thirteen justices – a number too cumbersome for the legislature to justify either financially or logistically.
  By the mid-18th century, the number of justices had been reduced, usually nine or ten, but only very rarely did all justices sit at the same time.  The entire judiciary was never required to all be present to hold session rather a number set by law usually at least three, one of whom had to be a justice of the quorum.  They were essentially senior justices in whom the governor placed his trust.  The governor designated quorum justices in his commission records.

This study uncovered the names of _________ men who served on the bench of the Provincial Court, 29 of whom served as chief justice.  Provincial Court Judgment records (MSA series S551- 1 – 95), and the Governor and Council Commission Records (MSA No.: S 1079-1 – 2) are valuable sources for names stemming from the Royal period to the end of the colonial era. 

Often the commission from the proprietor or crown was included in the transcript of the first court session of the year.  During the royal period, the crown appointed the chief justice, justices, and other court officers, and described any changes in the jurisdiction and powers granted to the court.  The list of justices in the crown’s commission is sometimes the only instance a justice’s name appears in the judgment records.

 The records are less clear for the earliest period of settlement.  In conjunction with extant court records, names from the first period of settlement were culled from the lists of members of the Governor’s Council in A Biographical Dictionary of the Maryland Legislature, 1635-1789.  During this period, the governor’s council met for sessions specifically entitled “Provincial Court,” but in the course of business would also act as the court when and as it saw fit.  The actions of the council and provincial court are sometimes indistinguishable, as the council would disperse business as it saw fit regardless of whether it was meeting as the “Provincial Court” or the “Governor’s Council.”
  Justices not appearing in judgment records can be found as councilors in the Proceedings of the Council (Archives of Maryland volumes 3, 5, 8, 15, 17, 20, 23, 25, 28, 31, 32).  

From the 1684-1688, the Council of Deputy Governors performed the duties of the governor, Benedict Leonard Calvert, the infant son of the Lord Proprietary.  The governor was still the chief justice during this period, and all of the deputies named in the commission (George Talbot, Thomas Tailler, Colonel Vincent Lowe, Colonel William Stevens, Colonel William Burgess, Major Nicholas Sewall, and John Darnall) served on the court at some point during this period.  However, no one person seems to have been officially named chief justice just as no one exerted sole executive authority until the Lord Proprietary named William Joseph president of the Council of Deputy Governors.  Joseph does not appear in the court record.  
The chaotic meeting schedule of the first proprietary period is reflected in this compilation.  The court met so frequently in this period that listing each session proved too cumbersome.  For this period, names are listed when they first appear, in roughly monthly intervals.  [I recorded a new name when it appeared along with the other in attendance to provide context.  I tried to record new sessions of court each month].  Once the court met regularly, around the 1680s, attendance at each session is recorded.  This list represents the most complete assembly of provincial court officials yet available.  A complete list is difficult to guarantee as office titles appear fluid throughout this period, and until 1776 a man could hold several offices at once.


Judgment records are also valuable resources for names of provincial officials, jurors, sheriffs, coroners, clerks, attorneys, and litigants, as well as officials and citizens who were involved in lower court cases.  Interpreting the records is a difficult undertaking.  Subsequently, many names were recorded that did not serve on the court.  Thus, a secondary, but incomplete list of miscellaneous other officials who appeared before the court as well as officials from the lower courts is also included.  Cases appealed from the various lower courts, primarily the County Court, but also Courts of Oyer and Terminer, Piepowder, and Admiralty are incorporated into the proceedings of the Provincial Court and are a valuable resource for names of people operating on the county and local levels.  

Cut---------------

Opinions varied greatly from governor to governor over the practice of assizes, but under the leadership of Governor John Seymour assizes finally gained strong support.  Seymour was anxious to make justice more convenient.  Indeed, the poor quality of roads made travel difficult, and sending a few justices on the road was a much more efficient means of dispensing justice than requiring all litigants to travel to Annapolis.  The colony was divided into western shore and Eastern Shore circuits, and assizes were held as needed in the spring and fall before the Provincial Court session.   
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